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RUTLAND BUILT ENVIRONMENT AWARDS  

Normally this Newsletter would carry a report on the 

previous yearõs George Phillips and Tony Traylen Awards. 

Unfortunately , there were insufficient nominations  in 2015 

to enable a viable awards ceremony . However, we fully 

expect that we will be able to reinstate the competition 

for 2016, with an awards ceremony at Oakham Castle in 

January 2017.  

 Just as a reminder, t he annual Rutland Built Environment 

Awards are  presented by the Society in conjunction with 

Rutland County Council in recognition of a significant 

contribution towards conserving or enhancing the built 

environment of Rutland.  

 

The George Phillips Award, 
introduced in 1980, is for a 
recent new or refu rbished 
building or development in 
Rutland. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

The Tony Traylen Award, 
formerly known as the Rutland 
Historic Building Award was 
introduced in 2007 for the 
renovation or conservation of 
an historic building in Rutland . 

 

 

 

 

Anyone can make a nomination, so please think about any 

recent and relevant developments that you are aware of in 

Rutland. It might even be your own home. For  a nomination, 

all we need is an address and a simple statement as to why 

you are nominating. Send it by email to 

secretary@rutlandhistory.org  or by post (or by hand) to 

The Correspondence Secretary, RLHRS, Rutland County 

Museum, Catmose Street, Oakham, Rutland LE15 6HW.  

The Awards are now in their 36 th  year and all the 

winners since 1980 can be seen on the Societyõs website at 

rutlandhistory.org  

 

 

RYHALL VILLAGE VISIT  

Saturday 19th September 2015  

Based at  Ryhall village hall, the former village schoo l, this 

event, open to members and local people, was organised by 

Debbie F rearson  and Carole Bancroft -Turner, and 

introduced by Edward Baines. The first part of the 

afternoon was a PowerPoint presentation highlighting 

interesting aspects of Ryhallõs local history, using old 

photographs and  documents provided by Rutland C ounty 

Museum and Anne Virgin, a local resident . 

A talk by Peter Hill on ôWitches in Local History õ 

followed.  In his talk, Peter defuse d some of the many 

myths that have been associated with th is subject  in the 

past , using contemporary documents, trial records, 

illustrati ons and other  sources. He demonstrated the 

differences in beliefs, attitu des and responses in the 

minds and lives of our ancestors in Britain as well as in 

other communities abroad.  

Finally, members and guests were able to follow a  leaflet 

guided historic al walk round the village, prepared by 

Robert Ovens and Sheila Sleath, which included a visit to 
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see inside Ryhall Hall at the invitation of the owners, Mr 

and Mrs Juggins. 

Debbie Frearson, Peter Hill and Edward Baines at Ryhall 
Village Visit . (RO) 

 

Ryhall Hall . (RO) 

 

 

THE SOCIETYõS EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE -  PART 2  

To some a ôcommittee õ means a set of elite academics. In 

the  Society õs Executive Committee,  we have a wide range 

of volunteers, some academic, others professionals in 

specific areas such as conser vation, but quite a few have 

an enthusiastic interest in local history with no background 

in academia nor specialised heritage professions. In the 

last Newsletter I profiled the Officers of the Executive 

Committee. Now, itõs the turn of the other elected 

members who do not hold  specific offices: they collectively 

offer over 200 years of experience of  Rutland and its 

history .  Each give their advice freely, raising concerns 

whether it be in relation to planning matters, changes to 

funding, or simple introduc tions to new areas of research , 

resulting in  a dynamic collaboration of individuals on the 

Committee.  

A valuable member of the committee is Robert Clayton  

currently Rutland County Councilõs Head of Culture and 

Registration, a role which includes the manage ment of 

Rutland County Museum, Oakham Castle, and the countyõs 

public libraries. Robert is a Chartered Librarian, and has 

worked on and off at Oakham Library since 1994, when 

Leicestershire County Council operated the service. Robert 

joined Rutland  County Council in 2000 to manage the 

library service, and has been a member of the RLHRS 

Executive Committee since 2005.  His principal focus at 

present is the restoration work to Oakham Castle, a £2.4m 

project funded by the Heritage Lottery Fund, Rutland 

County Council, and the Friends of Rutland County Museum 

and Oakham Castle. 

A l ongstanding committee member is Oakham based 

David Carlin , whose career was in aircraft maintenance. 

Davidõs extensive knowledge of the area and his thirty -

year contribution to the arc hives of  the Society are 

second to none. He acted as our Historic Environment 

Convener for many years, advising on planning applications 

and recommending projects for the Society õs 

environmental awards.  

After spending many years lecturing on landscape his tory 

and historic buildings, Elizabeth Bryan  joined the historic 

buildings department of Leicestershire County Council, 

later becoming the Conservation Officer for Rutland from 

1997 to 2006.  She now works as an historic buildings 

consultant  and is a regular judge for the Societyõs 

Environmental  Awards. 

A native of Seaton, although now in exile in Uppingham, 

Hilary Crowden  has been working on Rutland's local history 

for the past 30 years.  In 2004 he gained his Masters in 

English Local History from the Unive rsity of Leicester, and 

is at present completing his PhD,  focusing on the 

development of Rutland as a county community in the 

modern age.  

Audrey Buxton  has enjoyed a long and varied 

administrative and political career both in and outside the 

County. As Feature Editor for the Rutland Times  for a 

number of years and County Councillor for many more she 

offers a varied perspectiv e on the work of the committee. 

Contacts made throughout her time in Rutland , and her  

later career as a genealogist , have proved an invaluable 

resource for members.  Audrey keeps trying to retire from 

the committee following her move  to Market Harborough , 

but she is such an important member we asked her to stay 

with us!  

Our newest Honorary Member, Dr Mike Tillbrook , was 

Treasurer then Chairman of the Society for many years. 

Mike offers invaluable academic advic e and measured 

diplomacy, and is a regular Newsletter book reviewer . 

Finally, Paul Reeve, an Oxford graduate, is using his 

professional skills from a sales and marketing career to 

reduce the considerable stock of publications held by the 

Society.  

All of the committee work towards delivering the main 

aim of the Society, which is the advancement of the 

education of the public in all aspects of the history of  

Rutland and its immediate area. There are vacancies on the 

committee and we welcome anyone who feels they can 

contribute.  

Debbie Frearson  
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EMAIL CONTACT WITH SOCIETY MEMBERS  

An ever - increasing number of members are able to 

communicate by email and we would like to use this method 

to  keep in touch with you. It is quick and easy, and helps 

the Society to keep costs to a minimum .  

Email addresses will only be used by the Society to 

distribute information on Society matters. They will not be 

used for any other purpose, or passed on to an y other 

individual or organisation.  

If you agree to this , please send an email to 

allow@rutlandhistory.org  giving your name and brief  

address in the subject line . Also, if you have changed your 

email address re cently, please let us know the new address 

by the same method.  

 

MEMBERSHIP SUBSCRIPTIONS AND RENEWAL  

Membership Subscriptions are due on 1 st  May 2016. The 

current  rates are  unchanged as follows: 

Individual Membership £14  

Family / Joint Membership £16  

Inst itutional Membership £16  

Overseas supplement (all grades of membership) £5  

If you pay by standing order, please ensure that it is 

up- to - date and that it  reflects  the rate relevant to 

you.  

Debit and credit cards can now be used for on -line 

membership renewal. See ôMembership Application & 

Renewalõ on the Societyõs website at 

www.rutlandhistory.org , or visit www.genfair.co.uk  

 

 

JOINT MEETINGS PROGRAMME  

Rutland Local Hist ory & Record Society (RLHRS) and the 

Friends of Rutland County Museum & Oakham Castle 

(FRCMOC). 

Please note : 

¶ Open meetings are now normally held on the second 

Thursday  of each month at Rutland County 

Museum, but there are exceptions so it is wise to 

check the  programme for dates and venues . 

¶ The programme y ear is from January to December . 

¶ Any changes to the advertised programme and 

additional information on specific events will be 

given on the Societyõs website. 

 

The remainder of the 201 5 programme:  

Thursda y 21 st  April at  7.30pm  

Venue: Rutland County Museum  

The Hallaton Treasure  

Ken Wallace and Vicki Score  

Ken discovered the hoard and Vi cki carried out the 

excavations.  

 

Thursday 12 th  May at  7.30pm  

Venue: Rutland County Museum  

RLH&RS AGM followed by   

The 58 th Rutland Regiment in the Boer War  

Anthony Martin  

Anthony Martin will focus  on the 58th Rutland Regiment õs 

involvement in the Zulu War of 1879, and the little known 

1st Boer War of 1881. During the latter the 58th were all 

but annihilated, hence the title  of the talk . Shortly after 

its conclusion, what remained of the Regiment was 

amalgamated with the Northamptonshire Regiment as part 

of the Army reforms, and the Rutland Regiment ceased to 

exist.  

 

Thursday 9 th  June at  7.30pm  

Venue: Rutland County Museum  

I ronstone Quarrying in Rutland  

Speaker from Rocks by Rail 
 

Thursday 14 th  July at 7.30pm  

Venue: Rutland County Museum  

The Romans in Rutland  

Peter Liddle , former County Archaeologist for 

Leicestershire  

 

Thursday 25 th  August at 7.30pm  

Venue: Rutland County Museum  

The Melton and Oakham Canal  

Paul Dadford  

 

September (Date to be confirmed)  at 7.30 pm  

Venue: Oakham Castle  

The Tennants Lecture  

Marc Allum of the Antiques Road Show 

There will be a charge for this event.  Please book in 

advance at Rutland County Museum 

 

Saturday 17 th  September  

Venue: Morcott Village  Hall and Church  

Village  Visit to Morcott   

Tony Martin and Tricia Williams  

There will be a charge for this event. An invitat ion will be 

sent to all members  

 

Thursday 1 st  November at 7.30pm  

Venue: Rutland County Museum 

The Role of Museums in the USA ð can we learn from 

them?  

Dr  Katy Bunning, Research Associate, Museum Studies 

Department,  University of Leicester  

 

 

OAKHAM CASTLE PROJECT PROGRESS  

Robert Woodhead Limited commenced on site on the 12th 

October 20 15. The New Build Extension works are well 

underway, with the demolition of the boiler house and 

infilling of the basement completed, following 

archaeological supervision. The new toilet block / boiler 

room walls and floor slab s have been installed, as has  the 

external ashlar stonework, which is now at full height.  

Work is currently underway on the roofing.  

Refurbishment works to the Great Hall are very 

advanced.  The internal vestibule has been removed, and 

mailto:allow@rutlandhistory.org
http://www.rutlandhistory.org/
http://www.genfair.co.uk/
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the internal wall repair works have been complet ed, 

including re -plastering of significant areas, and painting 

with appropriate materials.  First fix electrical works are 

complete, and a new lighting scheme installed, which has 

made the hall significantly brighter (lighting levels can be 

reduced as requ ired).  The court furniture has been 

sanded and primed, ready for the implementation of the 

approved paint scheme, which will reflect the original look 

of the furniture. Internal ramps have been installed.  No  1 

Court is presently being redecorated in adva nce of 

installation of interpretation materials.  

 

The external refurbishment works to the Great Hall are 

virtually complete, with extensive repointing and repairs, 

renewal of the fascias, soffits and rainwater goods, and 

repair works to the windows (incl uding a mesh guard to the 

high East Window which frequently suffers damage).  The 

Collyweston slate roof on No  1 Court has been almost 

completely replaced on the east side as it was in very poor 

condition.  

Archaeological supervision has been undertaken by 

University of Leicester Archaeological Services (ULAS)  

including the evaluation of the areas previously covered by 

the paving slabs, the excavations to the new extension 

block and the evaluation to the test area of the curtain 

wall. The remaining ULAS atte ndance will be supervision of 

Woodheadõs installations of site guiding. 

The horseshoes were removed from the  Great Hall, 

transported to Rutland County  Museum and staff together 

with volunteers from the University of Lincoln have 

cleaned and undertaken mino r repair works to the 

collection. The horseshoes have been photographed, 

weighed and measured, and the majority have now been re -

installed in the Great Hall.  Under the new lighting 

conditions, they look even more impressive than before.  

Following the remo val of the horseshoes, previously 

unrecorded wall decorations were discovered in the 

plasterwork above the judgeõs bench. Andrea Kirkham, a 

decoration specialist, has attended site to analyse the 

decoration and has determined that the scheme is indeed 

Romanesque, and is contemporary with the construction of 

the Great Hall. Th is discovery is being recorded, and small 

sections have been left exposed to enable visitor s to have  

some idea of how the scheme looked.  The longer term 

most appropriate way to interpr et the decoration is being 

discussed with Historic England, with options to be 

discussed with the Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF).  The 

decoration will be included in the interpretation materials.  

Following investigative archaeological works to the 

curtain wal l, discussions are underway with Historic 

England and ULAS concerning the options for going 

forward.  This  is likely to shape the programme of 

community archaeology for  the next 3 years. Undertaking 

the wide-scale revealing of the curtain walls as part of t he 

construction phase of the current project is not possible, 

as this would require additional funding and would 

significantly delay re -opening. The works planned within  

the current project for the walls still above ground 

(largely covered in ivy) will be completed as planned. There 

is no impact on purposes, timetable or costs at present.  

 

A plan for new external interpretation boards has been 

agreed with  Historic England  and the  HLF, and the text of 

the panels has been finalised. Design work is now underwa y, 

as is the  fabrication of the panel stands.  The design of a 

physical 3D model of the Castle as we believe it looked 

c.1340 has been signed off by Historic England, and resin 

fabrication will begin shortly, as will watercolour 

illustrations based on the design.  Internal interpretation 

panels, and displays for the No  1 Court are also in the 

design stage.  

The new Activity Manager, Charlotte Widgery, joined 

the project in December and has begun to develop the 

activity programme, commencing with the developm ent of 

the Official Launch Day, which will be on Bank Holiday 

Monday (30th May ) 2016,  and an outline programme for 

the rest of the year  has been prepared . The first of the 

activity programme volunteers ha ve been recruited.  

Interviews have been held for th e Education Officer and 

Marketing Officer, and the appointees should be starting 

work with us shortly.  An interactive guide to the 
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horseshoes is under development, as is a fun ôdesign your 

own horseshoeõ IT app, which will be available on site.  

Robert Cla yton  

Head of Culture & Registration  

Rutland County Council 

 

 

UPPINGHAM RACES 

By Vanessa Doe 

 

Uppingham race ground lay to the south of the town on an 

area of common grazing known as the Brand, near to the 

site of the present Community College, where the ground 

on the common levels out. The common was shared, among 

others, with Lyddington, Uppinghamõs nearest neighbour to 

the south. The oval shaped course is clearly shown on 

contemporary and later maps as it was crossed by the new 

turnpike road, built in t he 1750s to carry traffic between 

Nottingham and Kettering.  

Uppingham Race Ground on Caryõs map of 1805. 
 

Racing on Uppingham Brand was first recorded in 1708 

and continued for most of the eighteenth century. It was 

organised from Uppingham and the horses  were stabled in 

the town, bringing business to the inns. Information 

supplied by the Curator of the National Ho r seracing 

Museum, Newmarket, shows that the races on the Brand 

were well organised. John Weatherall was appointed as 

Clerk (or Steward) in the 1 720s, to be replaced later by 

Ambrose How, and they took entries before each meeting 

at the Market Cross in Uppingham. By 1721 the prizes were 

said to be well up to the best on offer at race meetings at 

this time.  

Until the practice was discontinued in the  1770s, most 

horse races in England were run in heats of up to four 

miles. For example, the Derby at Epsom was run in heats, 

the four miles starting at Banstead and ending at the 

winning post on the main course. Most of the races at 

Uppingham in the mid ei ghteenth century were run in four 

mile heats, possibly following part of the level ground 

which stretches across the Brand from the top of Wardley 

Hill in the west towards Seaton in the east, but most likely 

using the Common towards Seaton. By 1735 the cou rse was 

attracting leading owners like Sir Michael Newton, MP for 

Grantham, who took a £20 second prize with Brisk , a 

winner at Peterborough and other venues. He was beaten 

by Partner  belonging to Mr Grisewood. Partner  became a 

leading sire, having won 25 races, two of them at 

Uppingham. There were other entries by leading owners 

including Lord Gower, Mr Fleetwood and Mr Tuting. Lord 

Gowerõs horse, Noname, won the £40 prize in the heats for 

six year olds against the Duke of Ancasterõs Dainty . 

Eighteenth cen tury newspaper reports of the racing on 

the Uppingham race ground show that they were a very 

different kind of event to that which would be expected 

by racegoers today. The Jockey Club was meeting regularly 

in Newmarket from about 1750 and members were in the 

process of putting together ôRulesõ governing race 

meetings, but had not yet joined forces with Weatherbyõs 

to enforce the running only of horses registered as 

thoroughbreds in the General Stud Book. The Uppingham 

races were designed for both the gentr y with their well -

bred hunters and hacks and for the local peopl e with their 

horses and ponies. 

 
Galloway Ponies, originally from Ireland, were used as pack 
ponies to carry a variety of heavy loads on the pack horse 
trains, but they had been cross bred ou t of existence by 
1820. (Wikipedia)  

 

An account of the races in the Stamford Mercury  in 

1740 gives details of the programme and prizes on offer at 

the kind of meeting expected at this time. It took place on 

the course over the four days of 28th, 29th, 30th  and 

31st  May. The meeting had a specific programme for each 

day. On the first day the purse, or prize, of 10 guineas was 

given to the winner of races for Galloway ponies up 14hh 

(hands high), carrying weight according to height, the 

largest to carry at le ast 9 stone. The entry fee was 15s. 

Galloway, or pony racing was popular on provincial courses 

but had gone from most areas by the beginning of the 

nineteenth century to make way for horses. Galloway 

ponies, originally from Ireland, were bred as pack ponie s to 

carry a variety of heavy loads on the pack horse trains 

which ran throughout the country carrying, for example, 

salt from the salt mines in Cheshire, and lead, iron ore and 
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millstones from Derbyshire. They were generally bay with 

black points, a dual purpose breed favoured for fast active 

work, both ridden and in harness.  

On the second and third days the races were run in 

heats of four miles for a purse of £40 with an entry fee 

of one and a half guineas. All types of horses under six 

years old, as cer tified by the breeder, were allowed to 

enter, some in classes with weight restrictions on the 

riders, and some according to age. These races were 

probably knockouts, leaving a single winner at the end of 

the day for the £40 purse. The winning horse, valued  at 80 

guineas, could be sold by the owner and claimed by a 

subscriber. All the horses entered had to be brought to 

Uppingham and shown at the Market Cross to Ambrose 

How, the Clerk of the Course, on the afternoon of 22 nd 

May between 2pm and 5pm.  

On the Sa turday, the last day of the meeting in 1740, 

the Earl of Gainsborough gave two bucks (deer) as prizes. 

One buck was given to the winner of a race for hunters 

owned by gentlemen freeholders to carry ten stone. Local 

villagers who were Commoners on the Brand  or Beaumont 

Chase could also enter their horses. These races were 

what would now be referred to a s ôclaiming racesõ. The 

winning horse was expected to be sold after racing for 

£10. Commoners could also enter their cart horses in their 

own race. The second buck was given as a prize to the 

winning cart horse owned by a local commoner. No one was 

to enter more than once in this class and the owner was to 

have been in possession of the horse for the last three 

months. Before racing, all the horses entered on t he 

Saturday had to be paraded before the Clerk of the 

Course in Uppingham market place between 9am and 11am. 

 

 
A cart horse of the type  which took part in the Uppingham 
races. It was  lighter than a modern Shire but capable of 
ploughing and carting work on local farms . (Whyte)  

 

It is unlikely that the cart horses were the large heavy 

Shire breeds we see today. Powerful though they are, and 

excellent for farm work in heavy land, they would have 

been costly to keep. Local farmers w ould probably have 

used a lighter Irish vanner type of cart horse, more like 

the modern Irish draught, to pull their ploughs and carts. 

With races specifically for Galloway ponies and cart horses 

the support of the local farming community on the 

racecourse  will have been essential.  

Match racing also took place on the Brand. This was 

usually a race set up between two or more individuals to 

settle claims regarding the superior prowess of their 

horses. In 1781 a race, reported in the Stamford Mercury , 

took pla ce over three heats of two miles between a 

chestnut gelding belonging to John Freer Esq of Edith 

Weston and a grey gelding belonging to Dr Francis 

Armstrong of Uppingham, the winner taking 100 guineas. 

The outcome is not recorded.  

On the same day there was  a race for four year olds for 

a £10 purse, and another for novices, run in heats, for a 

purse of £50. All the entered horses had to be shown at 

the Falcon Inn in the evening of 21st July.  

As in other rural areas there were often cock fights 

organised to take place at the same time as the racing as 

participation in both sports brought money into the inns 

and other venues in the area, as well as opportunities for 

betting. This was probably seen as an indoor alternative to 

racing if the weather was not suita ble. 

There was no racing at Uppingham from 1741 to 1760, 

and from 1776 to 1780, possibly due to the difficulty in 

raising the same level of prize money as in 1740, but more 

probably due to the frequent outbreaks of plague in the 

town at this time.  

In 178 2, the stewards were Francis Che selden and Dr 

Armstrong, with Samuel Douglas acting as clerk, but racing 

on the Uppingham course was apparently abandoned soon 

after, the last recorded meeting being in July 1783. 

However, the sport evidently persisted in othe r ways at 

other local venues, until the 1790s. The ôUniversalõ Trade 

Directory of 1791 specifically mentions ôthe Brand here is 

noted for horse racesõ, but by then the site of the course 

would have been valued for inclusion in the early 

nineteenth century enclosure of the local open fields and 

commons, which included the whole area of the Brand.  

 

The pillars marking 
the start and finish of 
races are said t o have 
been moved to form 
the Ionic portico of 
No 42 High Street 
West, Uppingham . 
(RO) 
 

 

 

It was also the case 

that in the 1760s and 

70s the numbers of 

entries had probably 

begun to fall off, 

which, according to 

Whyte, was part of a 

noticeable decline in 
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provincial race meetings in the last half of the eighteenth 

century owing to the distractions of wars o n the continent. 

Whyte records the closing of the course at Uppingham 

along with 48 others in the provinces by 1798. Peter Lane, 

in his unpublished account of the racecourse, notes that 

the pillars marking the start and finish of races are said t o 

have been moved to form the Ionic portico of 42 High 

Street West, Uppingham. One of the eagles which topped 

the columns on the racecourse was for a time still in the 

garden of this house. The race ground track has vanished 

without trace, the whole area of the comm on grazing on 

the Brand having been enclosed and laid out in new 

allotments by 1804.  

Acknowlegements : 

Thanks to Peter Lane of Uppingham Local History Study 

Group for providing copies of his notes on Uppingham 

racecourse, and to Peter Tomalin for his resear ch in 

conjunction with the National Ho r seracing Museum at 

Newmarket.  
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TWO RUTLAND RECTORS AND A YORKSHIREMAN  

By Paul Reeve 

 

The Reverend Richard Twopenny was rector of Little 

Casterton in Rutland from 1783 to his death in 1843. He 

was a forme r Fellow of Oriel College, Oxford, and learned 

in his reading. In May 1819 Edward Drury, a Stamford 

bookseller, wrote that he had submitted for the Reverend 

Twopennyõs appraisal poems by John Clare. Sadly, the 

rector did not think the poems worth publicati on. Clare was 

deeply hurt by this and penned the following lines 

reproduced from an article by Rodney Lines entitled ôJohn 

Clareõs Rutlandõ, originally published in Rutland Record 13 

(1993), 104 -07. 

Twopenny his wisdom is & Twopenny his fame is,  
Twopenny his merit is & Twopenny his name is,  
And as Twopence is a trifle I will do without him,  
Iõll sing in spite of Twopences  
And not care Twopence about him.  

 

This is perhaps the most conspicuous memorial for the 

poor rector. However, even cursory research show s that 

Richard Twopenny was an active and public spirited man. 

What is now Rectory Cottage, Little Casterton, was built 

as a schoolroom in 1832 by the Countess Dowager of 

Pomfret and the rector. Before this he had worked as a 

private tutor or schoolmaster.  Nathaniel Clayton, Byronõs 

contemporary at Harrow School, was one of his pupils. 

Byron described him as ôanother school monster of learning 

and talent and hopeõ. Nathaniel came from the north of 

England so the rectorõs reputation was not confined to 

Rutland. 

 

T H I S SCH O O L  W A S

B U I L T  B Y  T H E

C
S
 D O W

R
 O F  P O M F R E T

A N D  T H E  R E CT O R

1832

 
A facsimile of the P laque at Rectory Cottage, Little 
Casterton . 

 

Under Richard Twopenny the chancel of All Saints 

Church was restored and the north aisle rebuilt around 

1810-1811. A new porch was provided in 1837, paid fo r by 

Mary Countess of Pomfret. The Victoria County History  

for Rutland says further that the porch and the east end 

of the chancel were designed by William Twopenny. William 

was a barrister, an accomplished architectural 

draughtsman and a relative of the r ector.  

An article in The British Critic  of 1826, a quarterly 

review, went so far as to state, ôIn Rutlandshire, Great 

Casterton has a good church in very bad condition, while 

Little Casterton has an inferior church, but so well 

repaired by the Rev. E. Twop enny, that it is quite a model 

of what may be done even at a very small expenseõ. E 

Twopenny is presumably a mistake for R Twopenny.  

 

 
Great Casterton Church in 1906 . (Jack Hart Collection, 

RCM) 
 

At Great Casterton the rector was Richard Lucas. He 

was rector of Great Casterton with Pickworth until his 

death in 1827, as well as rector of Edith Weston in Rutland 

and Dean of Stamford, Lincolnshire.  
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Little  Casterton Church in 1934. (Jack Hart Collection, 

RCM) 

 

It was Richard Lucas who married John Clare and Martha 

Turner at St Peter and St Paul, Great Casterton, in 1820. 

If he was implicitly criticised in The British Critic , he was 

widely recorded elsewhere as having built at his own 

expense a new church at Pickworth. To cover the running 

costs of the new chu rch, he had further provided a 

substantial endowment. The new All Saints Church at 

Pickworth was consecrated in 1824 but the Stamford 
Mercury  of 26 th  October 1821 had earlier reported the 

opening of the church on ôSunday last Feast Dayõ. Rightly 

praised fo r his generosity, Richard Lucas was ready to 

share the credit as t he Victoria County History  for  

Rutland explains, ôIn the chancel is a marble tablet to 

Joseph Armitage, of Wakefield, Yorkshire (d 1820), 

gratefully placed by the Rev. Rd. Lucas, rector of 

Casterton Magna cum Pickworth, who, by property derived 

from him in the year 1822, was enabled to erect and endow 

this church.õ 

 

 
Pickworth Church in 1906 . (Jack Hart Collection, RCM)  
 

Joseph Armitage of The Lodge, Wakefield, (frequently 

spelt Armytage as recorded on his memorial inscription in 

what was then Wakefield parish church, now Wakefield 

Cathedral) died in 1820 aged 59. His estate passed to his 

sole surviving sister Elizabeth, wife of Richard Lucas. It 

was this inheritance that helped Richard Lucas  to build and 

endow the new church at Pickworth. In 1821 The 
Athenaeum gave a short account of Joseph 

Armytage/Armitage stating that, ôHis whimsical and very 

extraordinary parsimony on some occasions, and his 

unbounded generosity on others, will not be for gotten; and 

if it was necessary to find a similar personage to fill the 

chasm made by the death of this extraordinary man, it 

would be a matter of no small difficulty.õ In this and other 

accounts, it was invariably his eccentricity that was 

illustrated by example and quotation rather than his 

generosity. Credited with an income of around £5,000 per 

year, he nevertheless thought himself close to poverty.  

The alleged shortcomings of these three discursively 

linked individuals seem amply compensated by their g ood 

deeds; they do not amount to evil and do not illustrate 

Shakespeareõs lines from Julius Caesar: 

The evil that men do lives after them;  
The good is oft interred with their bones;  

 More appropriate might be Hamletõs words to Polonius: 

  Use every man aft er his desert, and who should 'scape   
 whipping? 
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At Easter 1215 a group of 

nobles, angered by King 

Johnõs taxation demands, 

assembled at Stamford and 

marched south to challenge 

the king, sparking off a 

process which culminated 

two months later on 15 th  

June in the kingõs reluctant 

acceptance of the Magna 

Carta and the severe 

abridgement of royal rights 

which that represented. 

(The gathering of the 

nobles is incorrectly dated on the back cover of the book).  

That the sealing of Magna Carta was a matter of great 

historical significance cannot be doubted. Just how 

significant it might have been continues to be much 

debated, not least as a result of the major exhibition held 

recently at the British Library. This small but informative 

volume does not concern itself with the wider significance 

of Magna Carta. What it does do particularly well is to 


